PHIL MURPHY
Governor

TAHESHA WAY
Lt. Governor

**State of New Jersey
OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER**

Appellate Section

ALISON PERRONE
Assistant Public Defender
Appellate Deputy

31 Clinton Street, 9th Floor, P.O. Box 46003
Newark, New Jersey 07101
Tel. 973-877-1200 • Fax 973-877-1239

JOSEPH E. KRAKORA
Public Defender

November 28, 2023

MARGARET MCLANE
ID. NO. 060532014
Assistant Deputy Public Defender
Of Counsel and
On the Letter-Brief

REPLY LETTER-BRIEF ON BEHALF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
APPELLATE DIVISION
Docket No. A-2662-21T4
Indictment Nos. 16-03-689-I, 17-05-1346-I

STATE OF NEW JERSEY,	:	<u>CRIMINAL ACTION</u>

LEGAL ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT IMPROPERLY DEPRIVED DEFENDANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO A DEFENSE AND TO TESTIFY.

Arrington was deprived of his constitutional rights to present a complete defense and testify because of the trial court's erroneous ruling that he was required to present expert testimony to advance an insanity defense. (Db 15-26)¹ In its response, the State tries to discount the long history of New Jersey precedent that holds that lay witnesses may opine on a defendant's sanity or insanity, while trying to support its novel expert-testimony requirement with cases from other jurisdictions. This Court should reject the State's attempts to avoid long-established New Jersey law and deny Arrington his constitutional right to a fair trial where he could present a full defense.

The State asserts that the court's unequivocal statement in State v. Morehous, 97 N.J.L. 285, 294 (1922), that "[l]ay witnesses on insanity may

¹ Arrington uses the abbreviations from his initial brief. In addition, Db refers to Arrington's initial brief, and Rb refers to the State's response brief.

give their opinion of a person's sanity or insanity provided such opinions are based on facts within the knowledge of the witness" should be rejected as "mere dicta." (Rb 41) However, "the prosecutor's office is not at liberty to disregard a pronouncement of this Court, even if that pronouncement is properly characterized as dictum." State v. Dabas, 215 N.J. 114, 136–37 (2013). As the Supreme Court has explained, "Appellate and trial courts consider themselves bound by this Court's pronouncements, whether classified as dicta or not." Ibid. Thus, whether "mere dicta" or not, what the highest court in New Jersey recognized more than a hundred years ago remains true today: lay witnesses may give their opinion of a person's insanity so long as that opinion is based on the witness's personal knowledge.

Moreover, Morehous was not the first time a New Jersey court upheld this principle. Morehous cited Genz v. State, 58 N.J.L. 482, 483-84 (Sup. Ct. 1896), which held that it was error for the court to refuse "to receive the opinions of nonprofessional witnesses as to the insanity of the prisoner. . . . [S]uch opinions of such witnesses, grounded on facts and circumstances within their personal knowledge, and stated, are held to be competent, and should go to the jury who are to estimate their worth." Similarly, the court in In re McCraven, 87 N.J. Eq. 28, 30 (Ch. 1916) wrote that "[a] witness, not an expert, may, in a case of insanity, state facts as to the actions of the alleged

lunatic, and then tell what, in his or her opinion, they indicate as to soundness or unsoundness of mind.” As these cases demonstrate, New Jersey courts have a long tradition of recognizing the admissibility and probative value of lay opinions on the defendant’s sanity.

More recent cases reaffirm this longstanding rule, and the State’s attempts to distinguish these cases are unavailing. For example, the State asks this Court to ignore the recognition in State v. Ridsen, 106 N.J. Super. 226, 235-36 (App. Div. 1969), modified, 56 N.J. 27 (1970), that “[i]t has long been the law of this State that a lay witness ‘may state facts and express an opinion in respect to the sanity of a defendant.’” (quoting Clifford v. State, 60 N.J.L. 287, 289 (Sup. Ct. 1897)). The State argues that this rule is irrelevant because the defense in Ridsen presented testimony from an expert witness. (Rb 42-43)

But this does not change the Appellate Division’s ruling in Ridsen, affirmed by the Supreme Court. See 56 N.J. at 40 (“We thoroughly agree with the Appellate Division that such evidence should have been admitted.”). The Appellate Division held “that in view of the insanity defense, it was important to give the jury a first-hand account of defendant’s mental and emotional attitudes and reactions at a time close to the homicide itself.” 106 N.J. Super. at 236. The lay witnesses’ testimony were “at least as significant as the experts’ testimony in helping the jury determine whether [the defendant] was

insane at the time of the murder.” Ibid. Thus, Risden helps demonstrate that lay testimony is admissible and can be as significant as any expert testimony in advancing an insanity defense.

The State’s attempt to distinguish State v. Scelfo, 58 N.J. Super. 472 (App. Div. 1959) because the defense called expert witnesses should also be rejected. (Rb 43-44) In affirming the defendant’s convictions, the Scelfo court in fact recognized the relative irrelevance of the defense expert testimony in assessing the insanity defense. In Scelfo, the defense presented evidence from two psychiatric experts who “both testified unequivocally that during the month of [the offense] [defendant] was unaware of the nature and quality of his acts and did not understand the difference between right and wrong.” Id. at 477. The State did not call any experts but instead relied exclusively on lay witness testimony to rebut the testimony from the defense medical experts.

On appeal, the defense argued that because of its presentation of “uncontradicted opinions” from “highly qualified medical experts,” the defendant was entitled to a directed judgment of acquittal by reason of insanity. Ibid. The Appellate Division disagreed, explaining that while “expert testimony bearing upon the sanity of the accused is relevant and admissible[.]” such testimony “is in parity with lay opinion testimony in that the jury is entitled to give each equal weight.” Id. at 477-78 (emphasis added). In other

words, lay opinion testimony about a defendant's sanity is just as good as the testimony from qualified psychiatrists.

The application of that holding to Arrington's case demonstrates the trial court's error in preventing him from presenting lay testimony, including from himself, about his insanity at the time of the crime. Arrington's own lay testimony "bearing upon the sanity of the accused" is "in parity" with any expert testimony on the same issue. To claim otherwise would impermissibly allow the State to use one rule when they want to use lay opinion testimony and a different rule when the defense wants to use the same kind of testimony. Such testimony is either admissible or inadmissible for both parties. The State is not entitled to cherry-pick the evidence rules depending on whether it wants or doesn't want to call an expert.

Finally, as for the State's attempts to distinguish Estate of Nicholas v. Ocean Plaza Condo. Ass'n, Inc., 388 N.J. Super. 571 (App. Div. 2006) (Rb 44-45), these also must be rejected. The State tries to claim that there is a meaningful difference between "a mental disability that prevents the person from understanding his legal rights. . .", N.J.S.A. 2A:14-21, and a "mental disease or defect" that prevents the defendant from "know[ing] the nature and quality of the act" or "know[ing] what he was doing was wrong." N.J.S.A. 2C:4-1. But both statutes have the same basic components — some kind of

mental disease or disability that causes or prevents the defendant from understanding his rights or knowing what he is doing. Thus, the court's statement that for purposes of a statute of limitation, a "person's insanity. . . can be established under N.J.R.E. 701, through the testimony of laypersons, without the presentation of expert testimony" supports Arrington's arguments here. He could have and thus should have been permitted to establish insanity through the testimony of laypersons.

In sum, expert testimony is only required when the subject "is so esoteric that jurors of common judgment and experience cannot form a valid conclusion." (Rb 24 (emphasis added)) And, though the State discounts the New Jersey caselaw supporting this point, our courts recognize that the defendant's sanity or insanity is within the ken of lay people. New Jersey has a long history of recognizing the admissibility, probative value, and equal status of lay opinion testimony on a defendant's sanity or insanity. Thus, there is no requirement that a defendant present expert testimony in order to present an insanity defense to the jury.

None of the other New Jersey cases cited by the State contradicts this longstanding rule because none addresses the core issue in this appeal: whether a defendant can present an insanity defense to a jury through lay opinion testimony. Several of the cases cited by the State relate whether the trial court

erred in excluding defense expert testimony. (Rb 25-26) See, e.g., State v. Hines, 303 N.J. Super. 311, 322 (App. Div. 1997) (reversing defendant's convictions because of the trial court's erroneous exclusion of a defense PTSD expert); State v. Kelly, 97 N.J. 178, 187 (1984) (reversing defendant's convictions because of the trial court's erroneous exclusion of the defense expert on battered women's syndrome). But it can be error to exclude expert testimony on a particular topic even though lay opinion testimony could also be admissible. Both expert and lay testimony are admissible and relevant to the question of a defendant's sanity or insanity.

Other cases cited by the State are wholly irrelevant, addressing whether a plaintiff should substantively prevail on an unemployment claim based on insanity instead of what is at issue here. (Rb 26) See Mullarney v. Bd. of Review, 343 N.J. Super. 401, 408 (App. Div. 2001) (holding that because the plaintiff failed to prove he left his prior job for good cause attributable to the work through expert testimony to explain any claims of mental illness, he was not entitled to unemployment benefits).

Contrary to the State's claims, none of the cases about competency proceedings hold that the defense is required to present expert testimony. (Rb 27) Instead, State v. Martini, 144 N.J. 603, 617 (1996) holds that the public defender's office must pay for an expert in a competency proceeding because it

is a “necessary service” to which indigent defendants are entitled. State v. M.J.K., 369 N.J. Super. 532, 549 (App. Div. 2001), certif. granted, 181 N.J. 549 (2004), app. dismissed, 187 N.J. 74 (2005) and State v. Purnell, 394 N.J. Super. 28, 50 (App. Div. 2007) also do not say that expert testimony is required.

Neither State v. Whitlow, 45 N.J. 3, 10 (1965), nor State v. Warlock, 117 N.J. 596, 601 (1990) (Rb 28-29) holds that the defense must present expert testimony to advance an insanity defense. Instead, these cases recognize that “lay opinion testimony as to insanity might be admissible,” but it would be “unlikely in the extreme” for a defendant to rely exclusively on such lay testimony. Whitlow, 45 N.J. at 10. See also Warlock, 117 N.J. at 606 (noting that insanity is “often established by medical testimony” and that “[g]enerally, the determination of a defendant’s ability to distinguish between right and wrong depends on psychiatric testimony” (emphasis added)). Thus, at most, these cases describe what might be good trial strategy, not what is mandated by the insanity statute or our caselaw about lay opinions about a defendant’s insanity.

In an attempt to support their contention an insanity defense requires expert testimony despite the longstanding New Jersey law that says the opposite, the State falls back on cases from other jurisdictions. The State

overstates and mischaracterizes the holdings from many of these cases. For example, the United States Supreme Court has never held that an insanity defense can only be proven through expert testimony, instead recognizing that indigent defendants cannot be deprived of access to psychiatric expert witnesses. Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). (See Rb 29-31)

Similarly, contrary to the State’s claims, Georgia law recognizes that any witness, including a lay witness, may opine on the defendant’s sanity, though lay witnesses cannot use medical terms of art. (Rb 34) See Branch v. Carr, 396 S.E.2d 276, 277 (Ga. Ct. App. 1990) (“Sanity or insanity is a proper subject for opinion evidence, and where the question under examination ... shall be one of opinion, any witness may swear to his opinion or belief, giving his reasons therefor.”) (emphasis in original). Many other states also recognize that lay witnesses cannot diagnose the defendant but may offer their opinions on the defendant’s sanity. See State v. Davis, 506 S.E.2d 455, 471 (N.C. 1998) (noting that a lay witness could “make a general observation that defendant appeared to be ‘mentally disturbed’” but could not “make a specific psychiatric diagnosis”) (cited at Rb 35-36); Doyle v. State, 785 P.2d 317, 322-23 (Okla. Crim. App. 1989) (reaffirming “that where insanity is interposed as a defense, a non-expert witness, after testifying to the act, conduct and appearance of the defendant, may state whether such acts, conduct and

appearance impressed him as being rational or irrational. However, a lay witness is not permitted to give an opinion calling for a medical diagnosis.”) (cited at Rb 35); White v. Commonwealth, 616 S.E.2d 49, 53-54 (Va. Ct. App. 2005), aff’d, 636 S.E.2d 353 (Va. 2006) (“While lay witnesses may testify to the attitude and demeanor of the defendant, lay witnesses cannot express an opinion as to the existence of a particular mental disease or condition.”). (cited at Rb 33-34)

The federal cases cited by the State are largely irrelevant because the federal standard for insanity is wholly different from New Jersey’s, and these cases do not hold that expert testimony is required in every single case where the defense is insanity. (Rb 37-39) Federally, the mental disease or defect must be “severe,” and the defense bears a higher burden of proof than in New Jersey — clear and convincing evidence instead of a preponderance of the evidence. See United States v. Turner, 61 F.4th 866, 889-93 (11th Cir. 2023) (holding that the improper admission of State expert testimony on defendant’s lack of insanity was not harmful error); United States v. Keen, 96 F.3d 425, 430 (9th Cir. 1996) (“Without reaching the question of whether lay opinion alone can ever support a finding of insanity, we can safely state that the record ultimately supports the district court's decision here.”) (emphasis added); United States v. Sanchez-Ramirez, 432 F. Supp. 2d 145, 148-49 (D. Me. 2006) (“[I]t is

unnecessary to decide whether a defendant's testimony standing alone can ever sustain an insanity defense. Here, the proffered testimony is insufficient.”).

The State is correct that Pennsylvania has recently held that the defendant must present expert testimony in order to advance an insanity defense. (Rb 32) Commonwealth v. Fortune, 302 A.3d 780, 787 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2023). However, this case is not binding on this Court, nor should it be persuasive given New Jersey’s long tradition of permitting lay opinion testimony about the defendant’s sanity or insanity. Instead, this Court should look to the jurisdictions with a similar tradition of expansive lay opinion testimony about insanity.

For example, in Arizona, like in New Jersey, “lay testimony has long been admissible in criminal trials on the issue of sanity.” State v. Bay, 722 P.2d 280, 284 (Ariz. 1986). Also like in New Jersey, Arizona courts have “previously held that there is no inference, as a matter of law, that a defendant’s insanity is established because the state failed to call experts to rebut a defendant’s experts.” Ibid. Cf. Scelfo, 58 N.J. Super. at 477 (rejecting the defense argument that he was entitled to a direct acquittal due to insanity where the State failed to present any expert testimony to rebut the defense psychiatric experts).

Thus, the Arizona Supreme Court in Bay held that “[t]he converse of this holding is logically true — there is no inference, as a matter of law, that a defendant’s sanity is established because he failed to call experts to rebut the state’s experts.” Bay, 722 P.2d at 284. The court explained that this rule must exist “because a jury need not believe or accept as true the testimony of experts over lay counterparts.” Ibid. The Court added that its reasoning was correct “in spite of the fact that a criminal defendant has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that he was insane at the time of the act.” Ibid. In essence, and despite the higher standard of proof a defendant must meet in Arizona, the Bay Court was persuaded that the State could not benefit from relying on lay opinion testimony to establish sanity without also being subject to the converse of that rule — that the defendant may establish insanity through lay opinion testimony. Bay better conforms with New Jersey precedent and helps demonstrate that Arrington should have been permitted to raise an insanity defense by relying on lay testimony.²

² Both Ohio and Washington also recognize that an insanity defense can be raised through lay witness testimony. State v. Reynolds, 550 N.E.2d 490, 496 (Ohio Ct. App. 1988) (holding that it was error for the trial court to withdraw the insanity defense from the jury because the lay testimony from the defendant’s sister about his medical history and his behavior when he was not taking his psychiatric medications was sufficient to permit a reasonable juror to find defendant was legally insane”); State v. Odell, 227 P.2d 710, 722 (Wash. 1951) (“Whatever the rule may be in some other jurisdictions, it is the rule in this state that a nonexpert witness may, in answer to a proper question,

For the reasons set forth in Arrington’s initial brief and here, it was error for the trial court to bar Arrington from presenting an insanity defense through lay witness testimony. In addition to depriving Arrington of his right to present any defense, let alone a complete defense, this ruling also improperly deprived Arrington of his right to testify. (Db 22-26) Although the State claims that Arrington was not deprived of his right to testify because he could have testified about his state of mind, the trial court’s barring Arrington from presenting an insanity defense in fact held the opposite: “[E]ven if you were to have Mr. Arrington testify, I don’t know that he would be qualified to testify as to his own state of mind as far as . . . whether or not he would qualify . . . that he did not understand -- appreciate the consequences of his behavior, and that . . . he’s really not qualified to give an opinion about whether or not he was insane or not at the time of the offense.” (9T 80-8 to 17 (emphasis added)) Given the trial court’s expansive ruling, Arrington’s statement when the court asked if he wanted to testify is even more logical: “I was going to testify but due to the fact you denied the insanity defense, I am not testifying.” (20T 231-13 to 15) If Arrington could not talk about his health history, his own state of

give an opinion concerning the sanity, at some stated time, of one on trial for a criminal act.”).

mind, what he was thinking, or what he was experiencing during the commission of these crimes, his right to testify was meaningless.

Finally, the State claims that if there were any error, it was harmless. (Rb 47-48) But Arrington was deprived of two foundational constitutional rights: the right to present a defense and the right to testify. These rights are the essence of what makes a criminal trial fair. To fully deprive a defendant of these critical rights and then uphold his convictions on harmless error grounds would make a mockery of the right to a fair trial. A trial where the defendant cannot testify in his own defense is not fair. A trial where the defendant is erroneously barred from presenting his sole defense to the jury is not fair. Arrington's trial was not fair. This Court should reverse his convictions.

POINT II

THIS COURT SHOULD NOT EXERCISE ORIGINAL JURISDICTION TO RESENTENCE DEFENDANT.

The State concedes that the trial court's imposition of three 50-year sentences for attempted murder constitutes an illegal sentence. (Rb 53-54) However, rather than agree that this illegal sentence requires resentencing, the State instead asks this Court to exercise original jurisdiction and resentence Arrington to three consecutive maximum-term sentences for the attempted murder convictions. (Rb 53-54) This Court should decline to do so and instead

remand to the trial court for resentencing on these charges. “Although appellate courts possess original jurisdiction over sentencing, the exercise of that jurisdiction ‘should not occur regularly or routinely; in the face of a deficient sentence, a remand to the trial court for resentencing is strongly to be preferred.’” State v. Kromphold, 162 N.J. 345, 355 (2000) (quoting State v. Jarbath, 114 N.J. 394, 410-411 (1989)). This Court should not take the extraordinary measure of exercising original jurisdiction to resentence Arrington. It should instead vacate the illegal sentences and remand to the trial court for resentencing.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth here and in defendant’s initial brief, his convictions must be reversed. Alternatively, his sentence should be vacated and remanded for resentencing.

JOSEPH E. KRAKORA
Public Defender
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant