SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY Docket No.

IN THE MATTER OF RUTGERS, THE STATE UNIVERSITY OF NEW JERSEY,

Petitioner-Appellant

and

AFSCME LOCAL 888, AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY, AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES,

Respondent-Appellee

On Petition for Certification from the Superior Court of New Jersey, Appellate Division
Docket No.: A-0277-23

Sat Below:

Hon. Lisa Perez Friscia, J.A.D. Hon. Stanley L. Bergman, Jr., J.A.D.

CIVIL ACTION

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION

PETER B. PARIS, ESQ. (Attorney #044022002) BECKETT & PARIS, LLC. 105 COLLEGE ROAD EAST PRINCETON, NJ 08540 TEL. 609-356-0270 FAX 609-356-0469 EMAIL: pparis@beckettparislaw.com

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

Respondent incorporates, but does not repeat, the legal arguments contained in Respondent's Appellate Briefs. In addition, Respondent makes the following points in rebuttal to the Petition.

A. Standard of Review

Appellate review of "PERC decisions and orders shall be of a very limited scope. Galloway Twp. Bd. Of Educ. V. Galloway Twp. Educ. Ass'n., 78 N.J. 25, 35 (1978). In the absence of a legal issue that is outside PERC's expertise, Courts properly afford substantial deference to PERC's expertise in the area of scope of negotiations. See, e.g., In Re Ridgefield Park Bd. of Educ., 244 N.J. 1, 17 (2020). Petitioner offers no rational basis for this Court to question PERC's expertise in this case or the Appellate Division's affirmation thereof.

B. The Law of Preemption in the Context of Negotiability is Well Settled

The Appellate Division properly upheld PERC's decision which relied on decades of expertise on the law of preemption in the context of negotiability. It is black letter law that the mere existence of legislation relating to a given term or condition of employment does not automatically preclude negotiations. In Re Ridgefield Park Bd. of Educ., 244 N.J. at 17 quoting Bethlehem Twp. Bd. of Ed. v. Bethlehem Twp. Ed. Ass'n., 91 N.J. 38, 44 (1982). Instead, negotiations are only preempted if the regulation fixes a term and condition of employment "expressly,

specifically and comprehensively." <u>Id. quoting Council of New Jersey State College</u>

<u>Locals</u>, 91 N.J. 18, 30 (1982). This Court has long held that to find a law or regulation to be preemptive:

the legislative provision must "speak in the imperative and leave nothing to the discretion of the public employer." If the legislation, which encompasses agency regulations, contemplates discretionary limits or sets a minimum or maximum term or condition, then negotiations will be confined within these limits. Thus, the rule established is that legislation "which expressly sets terms and conditions of employment...for public employees may not be contravened by negotiated agreement."

Id. at 18 [citations omitted]. In construing whether a statute or regulation is preemptive, the analysis must begin with the language of the law, ascribing to its words their ordinary meaning. Id. citing Kean Federation of Teachers v. Morell, 233 N.J. 566, 582 (App. Div. 2018). Thus, the question before PERC was whether the regulation, 34 C.F.R. §106.45, "expressly, specifically and comprehensively" prohibits a union member from arbitrating discipline imposed upon him/her following a Title IX investigation. PERC correctly found that it does not.

Here, there is no language in the text of 34 C.F.R. §106.45 which speaks to the right of employees to appeal discipline. Not only does the regulation not speak "expressly, specifically and comprehensively" to disciplinary appeal rights, it is completely silent on the issue. After a thorough review, PERC found that "Nothing in 34 C.F.R. §106.45 suggests that the 'grievance process' required by Title IX pertains to, or preempts, collectively negotiated grievance procedures that may be

available to represented employees after discipline has been imposed..." (Pa26-Pa27). In the absence of any language in 34 C.F.R. §106.45 pertaining to disciplinary appeal rights, the Commission properly denied the Petition. PERC's decision is consistent with both its own case law and the courts' and should be affirmed. See Bethlehem Twp. Bd of Ed., 91 N.J. 38, 48 (1982) (to be preemptive regulations must leave no room for discussion and say all there is to be said); Matter of Hunterdon County Board of Chosen Freeholders, 116 N.J. 322, 330-331 (1989) (statute not preemptive unless it specifically fixes term of employment); County of Atlantic, 445 N.J. Super. 1, 21-22 (App. Div. 2016) (statute not preemptive absent specific conflicting language); New Jersey State Troopers, 7 NJPER ¶ 12026 (1981) (subject matter not preempted where regulation is silent); City of Hackensack, 45 NJPER ¶ 5 (2018) (no preemption where statute did not specifically address subject matter of union grievance).

C. Rutgers' Own Title IX Policy Defers to Employee's Collectively Negotiated Rights

Rutgers' position in this matter is disingenuous since its own Title IX policy refers to the preservation of employees' contractual rights. Rutgers Policy 60.1.33 is entitled "Title IX Policy and Grievance Process." (Pa53-Pa112). That Policy specifically provides that any discipline imposed upon a Rutgers' employee must be consistent with the terms of their union contract which obviously includes binding arbitration for all disciplinary appeals.

Section VIII.L of Policy 60.1.33 is entitled "Sanctions and Other Remedial Measures." (Pa82). Section L, subsection 1, entitled "How Sanctions are Determined", provides that "In all cases involving employee Respondents, the decision concerning discipline shall be consistent with the terms of all University policies and the terms of any collective negotiations agreements" (Pa82). (Emphasis added.) Similarly, Section L, subsection 3, entitled "Sanctions for Employee Respondents", provides that "For employees, sanctions may include discipline up to and including termination from employment, consistent with the terms of all University Policies concerning personnel actions and the terms of any applicable collective negotiations agreements." (Pa83).

The collective negotiations agreement between Rutgers and Local 888 expressly provides that the only way to appeal discipline or discharge is through the union grievance procedure set forth at Article 4. (Pa165). Thus, when Rutgers drafted its own policy, it knowingly conceded that any discipline imposed through the Title XI process upon a Local 888 member would be subject to appeal through the contractual grievance procedure.

In this case, Rutgers conveniently forgets its own policy. However, neither PERC nor the Appellate Division forgot that Rutgers' own policy concedes Respondent's point: by seeking to restrain the union's request for arbitration in

this matter, Rutgers ignored and violated subsections (1) and (3) of Section VIII.L of Rutgers' "Title IX Policy and Grievance Process." Most importantly, Rutgers' policy implicitly and explicitly concedes that its Title IX Policy was intended to coexist with the collectively bargained rights of employees.

D. The Department of Education Has Specifically Stated that Title IX Does Not Preempt Collectively Negotiated Rights

Petitioner ignores the dispositive fact that the U.S. Department of Education has expressly stated that Title IX grievance regulations do not preempt arbitration of discipline under a union contract because the procedures are complementary, not exclusive.

The Title IX sexual harassment grievance process set forth at 34 C.F.R. §106.45 exists "for the purpose of addressing formal complaints of sexual harassment..." 34 C.F.R. §106.45(b). Importantly, the grievance process established by the regulation applies "before the imposition of any disciplinary sanctions..." 34 C.F.R. §106.45(b)(1)(i) (Emphasis added). Although the Title IX grievance process must specify what discipline might be imposed, it contains no language restricting disciplinary appeals of any kind, much less contractual grievance procedures. 34 C.F.R. §106.45(b)(1)(vi). Clearly, the regulation establishes a process in which the employer must initially process complaints of sexual harassment prior to the imposition of discipline. It does not, however, restrict in any way the collectively negotiated rights of employees to review discipline that is imposed.

During the public comment phase of the 2020 revisions, one commentator "suggested that the final regulations clearly state they do not preclude recipients' obligation to honor additional rights negotiated by faculty in any collective bargaining agreement..." 85 Fed. Reg. 30298 *30441 (May 19, 2020). Obviously, this comment presented DOE with an opportunity to state that the Title XI regulations preempt arbitration pursuant to collective negotiations agreements. Instead, DOE stated the opposite, namely that the regulations do not preempt rights under collective negotiations agreements.

Specifically, DOE stated:

These final regulations do not preclude a recipients' obligations to honor additional rights negotiated by faculty in any collective bargaining agreement or employment contract, and such contracts must comply with these final regulations. In the Department's 2001 Guidance, and specifically in the context of the due process rights of the accused, the Department recognized that "additional or separate rights may be created for employees...by...institutional regulations and policies, such as faculty or student handbooks, and collective bargaining agreements." The Department has never impeded a recipients' ability to provide parties with additional rights as long as the recipient fulfils its obligations under Title IX. The Department has never suggested otherwise, and we believe it is unnecessary to expressly address this concern in the regulatory text.

85 Fed. Reg. 30298 *30442 (May 19, 2020). (Emphasis added.)

This unequivocal statement of non-preemption by the federal agency charged with interpreting and implementing Title IX is dispositive of the preemption argument erroneously propounded by Rutgers in its petition. Not only did DOE reject outright the notion that the regulation preempts employee

rights under a union contract, the agency viewed the lack of preemption as so obvious from the history of Title IX regulations that there was no need to specifically address the question in the text of the regulation. Indeed, DOE simply reaffirmed its 2001 Guidance that employers like Rutgers that receive federal funds remain obligated to honor the "additional rights" of employees that are set forth in union contracts, as long as the pre-termination process envisioned by 34 C.F.R. §106.45 was followed.

DOE's comments also draw a clear distinction between the pretermination process governed by 34 C.F.R. §106.45 and the post-termination process governed by the union contract. One commentator observed that "the live hearing requirement for postsecondary institutions creates an unnecessary and duplicative process for employees who are subject to a collective bargaining agreement." 85 Fed. Reg. 30298 *30443 (May 19, 2020). That comment presumed the existence of two hearings and suggested that only one hearing was necessary. But DOE noted that the parties could negotiate any process they chose, as long as at least one of the hearings was consistent with the Title IX regulations. In its response to that comment, DOE again presupposed the viability of collectively negotiated rights to disciplinary review of the Title IX process:

...some [collectively bargained] agreements provide a pre-termination hearing, while other agreements provide a post termination hearing...If a

recipient chooses to accept Federal financial assistance and thus becomes subject to these final regulations, then the recipient may negotiate a collective bargaining agreement that requires a pre-termination hearing consistent with the requirements for a hearing under §106.45(b)(6). Nothing precludes a recipient and a union from renegotiating agreements to preclude the possibility of having both a pre-termination live hearing that complies with §106.45(b)(6) and a post termination arbitration hearing that requires a hearing with cross examination. These final regulations do not require both a pre-termination hearing and a post termination hearing, and recipients have discretion to negotiate and bargain with unions acting on behalf of employees for the most suitable process that complies with these final regulations.

85 Fed. Reg. 30298 *30444 (May 19, 2020). (Emphasis added.)

Here, DOE affirms that a pre-termination process is required by §106.45. However, DOE also affirms that "some [collectively bargained] agreements provide a pre-termination hearing, while other agreements provide a post termination hearing..." Again, if Rutgers' argument is correct, DOE would have stated here that post-termination proceedings are prohibited because the pre-termination hearing is final and unreviewable. But, DOE did not say that. Instead, DOE expressly stated that it is entirely permissible for the employer and the union to negotiate a process that includes two hearings - a pre-termination hearing and a post-termination hearing.

Thus, DOE itself stands in opposition to Rutgers' unfounded claim that Title IX preempts collectively negotiated arbitration rights of employees.

Surprisingly, Petitioner cites this Court's decision in <u>Hager v. M&K</u>

<u>Construction</u>, 246 N.J. 1 (2021) in support of its specious assertion that the Appellate

Division erred by focusing "too closely" on "a statute's plain language [as] the best indicator of legislative intent." (Pet. Br. at 12). Petitioner attempts unsuccessfully to draw the Court's eye away from Rutgers' Title IX policy and DOE's express statements negating preemption by complaining that the Appellate Division "focused too closely" on plain language. Instead of relying on DOE's clear and plain language that stands in opposition to Petitioner's argument, Petitioner urges this Court to "look beyond the language of the [regulation]" and seek out the purposes the agency "sought to serve" in order to "decipher" the regulation's true intent, irrespective of what the regulation and agency comments actually state.

To the extent that the Court needs to consider this curious proposition at all, it is obvious that <u>Hager</u> does not support Petitioner's argument. Indeed, <u>Hager</u> is consistent with the decisions of PERC and the Appellate Division in this case, albeit in a different context.

Hager is a medical cannabis case involving the unique conflict between New Jersey's legal cannabis laws and the federal Controlled Substances Act (CSA). While the intersection of the CSA and state laws that legalize cannabis is a complex and evolving question, the cannabis controversy does not fit into Petitioner's cropped and distorted theory of preemption.

In <u>Hager</u>, the relevant question was whether an employer, M&K, could lawfully refuse to reimburse an injured worker (Hager) for his medical cannabis

CSA preempts New Jersey law, thereby prohibiting the company from lawfully providing medical cannabis to the employee. After an exhaustive analysis not relevant here, this Court found no preemption for various reasons, most notably the express statements of Congress against preemption. Those clear statements against preemption resemble the DOE's statements in this case.

Contrary to Petitioner's asserted notion of "implied preemption," <u>Hager</u> relied on Congress' express intent to disavow federal preemption of state legal cannabis laws. Subsequent to the enactment of the Controlled Substances Act, Congress had repeatedly stated that the Department of Justice must not enforce the CSA in states that had legalized medical cannabis. Because Congress had expressed such anti-preemption intent for several years, this Court found that Congress surely did not intend for the CSA to preempt New Jersey medical cannabis laws in the context of workers compensation reimbursement.

In sum, the <u>Hager</u> case actually supports Respondent's case, not Petitioner's. In <u>Hager</u>, the Court found that Congress had subsequently spoken against preemption of state law, despite the apparent intent of the CSA. Similarly, here, the Department of Education has expressly spoken against preemption by making clear that Title IX procedures can co-exist with negotiated employee rights. The <u>Hager</u> decision is consistent with New Jersey Turnpike Authority v. New Jersey Turnpike

FILED, Clerk of the Supreme Court, 02 Feb 2025, 090230

Authority Supervisors Ass'n., 143 N.J. 185 (1996) which was discussed at length by

the Appellate Division. Therefore, this Court's jurisprudence on this question is

long-settled and need not be revisited by this case.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, in PERC's briefs, and in Respondent's

Appellate briefs, it is clear that Petitioner has failed to carry its burden of showing

why certification should be granted to this Court. Accordingly, the Petition must be

denied.